RECEIVED

05-30-2012

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CASE NO. 2012AP000393-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

CORTEZ LORENZO TOLIVER,

Defendant/Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, HONORABLE FAYE FLANCHER PRESIDING, RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Attorney Eileen Miller Carter Counsel for Appellant/Petitioner State Bar No. 1001252

P.O. Box: P.O. Box 2041 Brookfield, WI 53008 (262) 789-1485

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the trial court exercise appropriate discretion in denying the petition for reverse waiver?

Trial court answer: Yes.

2. Did the trial court exercise proper sentencing discretion when it did not explain its reason for maximum and consecutive sentences or accurately consider character factors?

Trial court answer: Yes.

3. Was denial of postconviction relief erroneous?

Trial court answer: No.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant submits that the issues presented do not present any change in law or warrant an extension of existing law and therefore publication would not serve any purpose. The facts are easily understandable and the legal questions can be succinctly reduced to writing, therefore there is no compelling need for oral argument.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Following his guilty plea, Cortez Lorenzo Toliver was convicted of one count First Degree Reckless Injury/Use of a Dangerous Weapon. (R37) (App.1) The offense is a violation of Wis. Stat. sec. 940.23(1)(a), which is a class D felony, exposing the offender to maximum penalty of thirty years imprisonment divided as 20 years of initial incarceration and ten years of extended supervision. A penalty enhancer for the weapon increased the maximum penalty five years. He was also convicted of one count Attempted Robbery With Threat of Force/Use of a Dangerous Weapon which offense is a violation of Wis. Stat. 943.32(1)(b). It is a class E felony, exposing the offender to a possible maximum of 12 and a half years prison which is ten years of initial confinement and two and half years of extended supervision. (R44) (67)

Prior to the plea, defense counsel filed several motions including "Petition for Reverse Waiver" which was supported by an evidentiary hearing on November 2, 2009. (R8,57) (App.2) The trial court orally denied the hearing on that date and entered a written order on December 17, 2009. (R25) (App.2,3) The defendant appealed the court's decision and the court of appeals denied relief at that time, ruling the issue should be pursued following judgment of conviction. (R28) (App.4)

The trial court imposed a term of twenty years of initial confinement followed by ten years of extended supervision on count one and on count two, imposed a term of seven years of initial confinement followed by two years of extended supervision, consecutive. (R44) (R67) (App.1) Cortez was granted 816 days custodial credit. He was not eligible for challenge incarceration or earned release. He was required to provide and pay for a DNA sample and surcharge. The court ordered he have no contact with the victim and no use or possession of alcohol or controlled substances. It

further ordered as condition of supervision that he participate in AODA assessment and treatment recommendations. (R44)

The offense was committed on April 11, 2009 and he was convicted on June 3, 2011. At the time of the offense and at the time of reverse waiver hearing, he was 16 and he turned 19 last December. (R2) (R44)

The state recommended a lengthy prison sentence without specifying a length or whether it be imposed concurrently or consecutively. (R67/6) The presentence investigative report (PSI) recommended for count one a fifteen year term of initial confinement followed by five years of supervision and ten years of initial confinement followed by four years of supervision on count two, consecutive for initial confinement but concurrent as to supervision. (R39/6) A defense sentencing letter was prepared on behalf of Mr. Toliver but contained no recommendation. (R40)

Defense counsel acknowledged prison was appropriate but explained a different structure would permit Toliver to be confined and yet be rehabilitated while supervised in the community. (R67/20,21) He asked for up to ten years initial confinement on count one followed by maximum term of extended supervision, and on count two, a sentence up two ten years divided as five years initial confinement followed by five years extended supervision and impose them concurrently since this arose from one incident. (R67/20)

Mr. Toliver contends that the court committed flaws in exercising its sentencing discretion and sought a sentence reduction. Cortez Toliver filed a motion for postconviction relief and the court held a hearing and denied the motion which was reduced to a written order. (R46,47,68) (App. 6)

He now appeals the court's denial of reverse waiver and sentence modification.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Cortez and the victim, Dontai Gorman, were playing dice and he lost money to Gorman; they arranged to meet again so Cortez could win his money back. When they met again on April 11, 2009, the day of the incident, Gorman was aware that Cortez had a firearm. The two became involved in a heated argument. Cortez wanted to have his money returned so he could return to Milwaukee where he lived and attended school. Instead of accepting the loss, he pulled a gun and shot him a single time in his lower back as Dontai Gorman turned to leave. Cortez ran out and left Dontai. Dontai Gorman was permanently paralyzed from the waist down as a result of the gunshot. It was devastating to him and his family. (R2) (R39)

Cortez Toliver was genuinely remorseful for his actions and hoped that Mr. Gorman would make some kind of recovery. (R67/18) Dontai Gorman attended the sentencing hearing. He spoke in court and explained the many losses and changes to his daily life and his children resulting from his paralysis. (R67/22-24)

The following facts are relevant to the particular issues. The state at the postconviction relief hearing denied that Cortez had a firearm to Gorman's knowledge. (R52/50 The transcripts of the preliminary hearing which reflect the victim's testimony, the state's own witness, contradict the assistant district attorney.

Dontai Gorman testified at the preliminary hearing that Cortez pulled out a gun and stated "I didn't believe that he would shoot me at all, so you know, I turned around and ran with all of the speed I had, and he shot me right in the back..." (R52/4) Gorman was aware that Toliver had a gun. (R52/6) Gorman testified that there was a disagreement over the dice game. (R52/6) He explained "He was angry, like very high tempered, and started to throw the dice and told me that I was going to have to give him all of his money back or

else he would hit me. That was his way of saying shoot me, you know, otherwise he would shoot me. So kind of panicked and made the wrong decisions." (R57/6) The state clarified "When you were having this argument about you giving Mr. Toliver his money back, was the gun present?" Answer "Yes, he had the gun to my head." (R52/6)

Gorman conceded that Cortez ran and did not go through his pocket or person to recover any money or property. (R52/8)

I. THE COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THE REVERSE WAIVER: CORTEZ TOLIVER PROVED REVERSE WAIVER WAS APPROPRIATE.

A. Standard of Review.

A reverse waiver is governed by section 970.032(2), Wis. Stats., providing that the court shall retain jurisdiction unless the juvenile proves by a preponderance of the evidence that he would not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system, that transferring jurisdiction to the juvenile court would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense and that retaining jurisdiction in adult court is not necessary to deter the juvenile or others from committing similar crimes in the future. The trial court's decision whether to grant reverse waiver is discretionary and therefore reviewed under the exercise of discretion standard. "A decision to retain or transfer jurisdiction in a reverse waiver situation is a discretionary decision for the trial court." State v. Dominic E.W., 218 Wis.2d 52, 56, 579 N.W.2d 282 (Ct. App. 1998), and State v. Verhagen, 198 Wis.2d 177, 191, 542 N.W.2d 189 (Ct. App. 1985). An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's discretionary determination if the record shows the court exercised discretion and reasonable grounds exist for its determination.

B. Reverse Waiver Should Have Been Granted Because the Court Ignored Facts and Its Findings Are Not Based on Accurate Reference to Facts of Record.

The complaint was filed originally in the adult criminal system. Cortez Toliver filed a petition for reverse waiver into adult court pursuant to Wis. Stat. sec. 970.032(2). At the time of the offense, Toliver was 16 years old and juvenile under the law, confronting substantial criminal penalties. (R8) The court conducted an evidentiary hearing. (R57) The court denied the petition by oral ruling and entered a written order. (App.2,3)

The defendant bears the burden of proving reverse waiver is appropriate by satisfying three prongs: that if convicted the defendant could not receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system, that transferring to the court assigned to jurisdiction under chapter 48 and 938 would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense and third, that retaining jurisdiction is not necessary to deter the juvenile or others from committing the violation. State v. Verhagen, 198 Wis.2d 177, 191, 542 N.W.2d 189 (Ct. App. 1985)

At the hearing Shelly Hagan, director of the Office of Juvenile Offender Review in the State Division of Juvenile Corrections testified. (R57/29) Her role in part is to oversee treatment plans when a juvenile is placed in a secure juvenile correctional institution. (R57/29) She testified that the recidivism rate of offenders is 14-18 so that 86 percent of offenders who are released are not reconvicted readjudicated. (R57/32) Individual treatment plans are created based on assessments in education, mental health, gang involvement and victimization. (R57/33) Ms. Hagan explained the intensity of staffing is a major difference between juvenile and adult facilities. (R57/38) The ratio is about 1 to 60 for psychologists, and 1 to 30 for social workers, both of which emphasize treatment. (R 57/38) Classroom sizes are about ten. (R57/40) They are able to address and treat homicide related adjudications. (R57/38) The serious juvenile offender program

would allow a longer time in the division for more intensive programming to focus on what prompted their conduct. (R57/3)

Kyle Davidson, superintendent at Ethan Allen School for Juveniles testified that Ethan Allen has a staff member for every offender, the current capacity is 220 for a high of 500. (R57/46,47) He described the various programs designed to specifically address a juvenile offender's needs, such as drug and alcohol treatment, victim impact programming, counseling, psychiatric services and constant monitoring. (R57/48) Clinical staff is a 1 to 20 ratio and social services staff is 1 to 25 or 30. (R57/49,50) Ethan Allan has a nationally recognized Juvenile Cognitive Intervention program that is geared toward the minds of a young offender rather than an adult offender. (R57/52) The goal of Ethan Allen is to protect the public and return offenders to society when they are ready in order to protect the public. (R57/53)

The final witness was Julianne Wurl-Koth, the Director of the Office of Correctional Services for the Division of Adult Supervision charged with providing consistency and oversight to adult educational and treatment programs. (R57/63) She explained the special educational services that would be available to adult offenders, that Green Bay Correctional is over capacity by 338 inmates and Racine Youthful Offender facility would not be available to a maximum risk offender. (R57/64) The ratio of staff to offenders at Green Bay is about 3 offenders to 1. (R57/65) Columbia Correctional was also over capacity, with about 300 offenders in excess of capacity and has a ratio of 2.45 staff to offenders. (R57/65) Completion of secondary education was the initial step of their program. (R57/66) She explained that an offender such as Cortez Toliver with an attempted homicide conviction would be subject to an assessment and evaluation at Dodge and his needs determined by several things, including his current risk level. (R57/66) Educational needs are the first and primary objective; classes are full time and can include vocational training. (R57/66,67) Green Bay has anger management, violence and cognitive

invention (sic) program for treatment options. (R57/67) She conceded that a report showed for the years 2008 no one completed the anger management program because it was not available due to staffing vacancies, the economic downshift cutting funding and that current conditions have not improved sufficiently to fully fill staffing vacancies to provide those programs. (R57/69)

Staff at adult institutions was not differentiated. Her testimony did not describe if the staff referred to in the staff ratio were treatment providers such as psychiatrists, psychologists or social workers.

Counsel submitted that Toliver did not preplan or intend to kill in showing the seriousness of the offense did not warrant adult jurisdiction. (R58/4) Toliver shot the victim in the back when he became angry over a dispute. The victim survived. His injuries were devastating but Cortez did not under those circumstances at the age of 16 deserve Green Bay or Columbia Correctional, which would not have appropriate treatment and programming. The institutions have disproportionate staff to offender ratios, are overcrowded while juvenile facilities are not overcrowded and are intended to provide treatment to offenders who have committed serious crimes with a ratio of 1 to 20 and 1 to 60 doctors to offenders. (R58/5)

Counsel pointed out that no one completed cognitive intervention programs in the adult system. Additionally, high school education was not treatment. (R58/5) At the time, Ethan Allen was under capacity as was Lincoln Hills. Both have serious juvenile offender programs. (R57/6,7) Family and after support was also provided. (R58/7) The juvenile treatment was initiated immediately upon a juvenile's entrance. (R57/33) The treatment incorporates the victim's perspective and desire for treatment. (R57/35) Progress is monitored. (R57/35) A report for Columbia Correctional for the same time frame indicated that no one had participated or completed that program because of staffing vacancies due to budget cuts. (R57/70) Designated

population for all adult Wisconsin prisons is over capacity by approximately 5,000 inmates. (R57/72) She did not have updated recidivism rates for adult offenders. (R57/75,76) A person convicted of a serious offense would not be eligible for Racine Youthful Offenders Institution for the first ten years at which time they would not be young enough to qualify for transfer there. (R57/82)

The court found that Green Bay and Columbia Correctional had better educational programming for juvenile offenders. (R58/12) It found both had numerous treatment options such as anger management, domestic violence and were staffed with psychologists, psychiatrists, teachers and social workers. (R58/12) It found despite funding cuts, Toliver could receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system. (R58/13)

The court considered the second prong, to not depreciate the seriousness of the offense by transferring jurisdiction to the juvenile court, and found the offense to be extremely serious and that counsel's argument was only downplaying it. (R58/13)

For the third prong, the court found that under any circumstances sending Mr. Toliver to juvenile court where he could be released in three years despite being at high risk to reoffend would shock the conscience of this community and send the wrong message. (R58/14) The court found that Toliver by counsel had not met his burden of proving by the preponderance of the evidence that reverse waiver is appropriate. (R58/14)

The court's ruling amounts to an erroneous use of discretion because it ignores facts that support waiver and its findings contradict the facts of record. Discretion should reach all these factors.

The court stated:

"Miss Hagan and Mr. Davidson were both employed with the Department of Corrections in the juvenile offender programming, and they testified pretty much as to what was available in the juvenile court system.

Certainly, there are numerous programs available, but then our third witness, Ms. Julienne Wurl-Koth testified that in the adult system, that in fact they have made special arrangements in two facilities. both Green Bay and Columbia Correctional, where juveniles such as Mr. Toliver would probably be located, and that they have better educational resources, including special educational resources. including special educational programming that's available for all the young offenders. In fact, she testified that those facilities are able to follow multi faceted education programs, and that their teachers are specially trained in this regard.

In addition, they have numerous treatment options, anger management, CGIP, domestic things of that nature. violence. They have psychologists, psychiatrists on staff, teachers, social workers, available. The question is not—the question is adequate treatment, and I'm satisfied from her testimony that while there may have been some funding cuts and perhaps not all of the programs are currently staffed, clearly based on the testimony, if convicted. Mr. Toliver could receive adequate treatment in the criminal justice system." (R58/12,13)

The court ruled that Cortez Toliver would be able to obtain adequate treatment in the adult criminal justice system. However, it identified domestic abuse as a treatment program as one which was offered although Toliver did not have such a background or need. (R39/4) The court did not indicate which targeted treatment was appropriate for Cortez and distinguish

which facilities could make that available. It did not explain why criminal adult offender treatment and facilities were preferred over juvenile facilities which were designed to help juvenile offenders even with serious offenses. The court ignored the testimony from Ms. Wurl-Koth, the Director of the Office of Correctional Services for the Division of Adult Supervision, that no treatment was available for the year 2008 and under current budget cuts, the treatment is not fully staffed and available and the program was not available. (R57/70) (R58/12)

The court, without explanation, determined that special educational programming was essential, which preempted special treatment, cognitive intervention and other treatment. The court determined treatment could be adequately provided in the criminal system despite the budget cuts. (R58/13) Its reference to treatment was generic because it did not specify which treatment was needed or appropriate for Toliver's rehabilitative needs. The court did not acknowledge or address if the economic conditions at that time could provide the eliminated treatment and to what extent. It had no information to suggest the treatment not available in 2008 could be provided to Cortez Toliver, when or if at all.

The court did not address capacity issues and whether that would contribute or impede rehabilitative efforts and the institution's ability to effectively provide treatment. (R58/13) The court ignored that treatment was designed for the juvenile mind, as explained by Kyle Davidson of Ethan Allen. The court did not review or ask what past experiences Toliver had or what his prognosis was.

The court was remiss in addressing his youthful age. That Cortez was 16 at the time of charging, the youngest of any age represented of any inmate encountering older adults, and that he did not intend to shoot the victim suggests juvenile level treatment should be emphasized in his rehabilitation disposition.

On review, the court of appeals can search the record to find reasons to sustain the trial court's decision. "When reviewing a trial court's exercise of discretion, we will look for reasons to sustain the decision." State v. Verhagen, *supra*, citing J.A.L. v. State, 162 Wis. 2d 940, 960-61, 471 N.W.2d 493, 501 (1991).

Likewise, the record reveals reasons that the reverse waiver was improvidently denied. The PSI, prepared for sentencing on June 30, 2011, contains factors highly relevant to Toliver's need for juvenile programming as contrasted to criminal institution. These substantiate counsel's contentions.

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