## **RECEIVED** 02-05-2014

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COUR WISCONSIN

No. 2012AP393-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CORTEZ LORENZO TOLIVER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A
DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF
APPEALS AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF
CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE RACINE
COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE
FAYE M. FLANCHER, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

\_\_\_\_\_

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

attempted violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.01, but failed to state the finding in those specific terms.

Moreover, Toliver's protestation that "the entire purpose of the special preliminary hearing ... is to ensure that there is a continuing basis for the 'exclusive original jurisdiction' [of the criminal court]" is incorrect. Toliver's Br. at 20. The purpose of Wis. Stat. § 970.032, according to this court, is both to ensure that it is proper to treat the case as criminal and to afford the juvenile the opportunity "to introduce evidence in an effort to get the charge reduced." *Kleser*, 328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶¶57, 62. It is clear that the case was appropriately treated as criminal and nothing about the preliminary hearing reduced Toliver's opportunity to present mitigating evidence.<sup>6</sup>

In *Kleser*, the defendant waived his right to a preliminary hearing, effectively conceding the State had the right to try him in criminal court. *Id.* ¶66. Here, while Toliver did not waive the preliminary hearing, he made little effort to show how the charges merited reduction to an offense that would not qualify for adult court jurisdiction (52; 57). As shown, the purpose of the statutory scheme set forth in Wis. Stat. § 970.032 was satisfied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Several months after the hearing, the court heard extensive argument on Toliver's claim that he should be "reverse waived" into juvenile court (57). Thus, this additional purpose of Wis. Stat. § 970.032 was satisfied, as well.

III. THE FAILURE OF A CIRCUIT COURT TO STRICTLY COM-PLY WITH THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF WIS. STAT. § 973.032 HAS NO BEARING ON THE COURT'S MATTER SUBJECT JURIS-DICTION.

### A. Relevant law.

"[S]ubject matter jurisdiction is vested by the constitution in the courts of the State of Wisconsin. No circuit court is without subject matter jurisdiction to entertain actions of any nature whatsoever." Mueller v. Brunn, 105 Wis. 2d 171, 176, 313 N.W.2d 790 (1982). "The circuit courts possess 'plenary' jurisdiction by virtue of Wisconsin Constitution art. VII, sec. 8, and that jurisdiction . . . does not depend on legislative authorization." In Interest of L.M.C., 146 Wis. 2d 377, 390, 430 N.W.2d 352 (Ct. App. 1988). "The circuit court lacks criminal subject-matter jurisdiction only where the complaint does not charge an offense known to law." State v. Schroeder, 224 Wis. 2d 706, 714, 593 N.W.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting State v. Aniton, 183 Wis. 2d 125, 129, 515 N.W.2d 302 (Ct. App. 1994) (emphasis in *Schroeder*)).

B. The circuit court's failure to expressly state it found probable cause to believe Toliver had attempted to murder Gorman did not divest the court of subject matter jurisdiction.

Toliver argues that when the circuit court failed to fully articulate its probable cause finding, as contemplated by Wis. Stat. § 973.032, the circuit court lost jurisdiction over his case. Toliver argues the failure to comport with the statute divests the court of jurisdiction. Toliver is incorrect.

Circuit courts in Wisconsin have plenary subject matter jurisdiction in civil and criminal matters. *Mueller*, 105 Wis. 2d at 176; *In Interest of Michael J.L.*, 174 Wis. 2d 131, 137, 496 N.W.2d 758 (Ct. App. 1993); *In Interest of L.M.C.*, 146 Wis. 2d at 390-91.

In *Mack v. State*, 93 Wis. 2d 287, 293, 286 N.W.2d 563 (1979), this court noted that a circuit court must have subject matter jurisdiction in order to try a person for a criminal offense and that subject matter jurisdiction is derived from law and cannot be waived or granted by consent. The court concluded that the Wisconsin Constitution gives circuit courts plenary subject matter jurisdiction over all matters, civil and criminal. *Mack*, 93 Wis. 2d at 294-95.

In *Matter of Guardianship of Eberhardy*, 102 Wis. 2d 539, 307 N.W.2d 881 (1981), this court addressed the question of whether the circuit court had jurisdiction to authorize the guardian of

a mentally retarded adult ward to consent to sterilization of the ward. This court held that the circuit court had jurisdiction, but that absent legislative direction the circuit court should refrain from exercising it. *Eberhardy*, 102 Wis. 2d at 541-42. This court rejected the view that the circuit court only has such jurisdiction as the legislature has conferred on it by statute. *Id.* at 548-51. This court explained that, in Wisconsin, circuit courts have been granted extremely broad jurisdiction by the constitution. *Id.* at 548-51.

In Schroeder, 224 Wis. 2d at 711-14, the court of appeals discussed the broad subject matter jurisdiction recognized in Mack. The court noted that the only time courts have found a lack of subject matter jurisdiction in the circuit court is when a complaint contains a charge not known in law. Schroeder, 224 Wis. 2d at 714. The court stated, "We are not aware of any case subsequent to Mack that has held any other type of deficiency to be non-waivable." Id. In other words, there is no other type of defect that divests the circuit court of subject matter jurisdiction.

More recently, in *Village of Trempealeau v. Mikrut*, 2004 WI 79, ¶¶2, 30, 273 Wis. 2d 76, 681 N.W.2d 190, this court held that noncompliance with statutory mandates can affect only the circuit court's competency to exercise jurisdiction, not its subject matter jurisdiction, and this court held that challenges to the circuit court's competency are waived if not timely raised. In perhaps its broadest language to date, this court stated, "Circuit courts in Wisconsin are constitutional courts with general original subject matter jurisdiction over 'all matters civil and criminal.' Wis. Const. art. VII, § 8. Accordingly, a circuit

court is <u>never</u> without subject matter jurisdiction." *Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d 76, ¶1 (emphasis added).

The Wisconsin Constitution endows circuit courts with plenary subject matter jurisdiction over all criminal and civil matters; subject matter jurisdiction is conferred by the constitution, not by an act of the legislature. This concept cannot be reconciled with Toliver's assertion that a circuit court's failure to comply with the preliminary hearing statute in the strictest terms divests the court of subject matter jurisdiction. Toliver appears to understand this, as his argument frequently complains that the preliminary hearing in this case violated the legislature's statutory scheme. Toliver's Br. at 33-34. However, it is not the legislature, but the Wisconsin Constitution, that gives the circuit courts general, original subject matter jurisdiction over all civil and criminal matters. A court's failure to comply with a statute in the manner Toliver suggests cannot remove the subject matter jurisdiction endowed by the constitution.

Mack, Eberhardy, Mueller, Schroeder and Mikrut are correct that a circuit court in Wisconsin is never without subject matter jurisdiction. Accordingly, this court must reject Toliver's argument that any failure to strictly comply with Wis. Stat. § 970.032 divested the court of subject matter jurisdiction.

IV. TOLIVER'S CLAIM OF ERROR
IS MORE PROPERLY
FRAMED AS A CLAIM THAT
THE COURT LOST
COMPETENCY TO PROCEED.

Toliver's argument is more properly framed as a challenge to the circuit court's competency.

#### A. Relevant law.

This court "has recognized that a circuit court has subject matter jurisdiction to consider and determine any type of action." *Michael J.L.*, 174 Wis. 2d at 137. "A circuit court also has lesser powers conferred upon it by the legislature." *Id.* "Competency' reasonably describes the lesser power to exercise subject matter jurisdiction." *L.M.C.*, 146 Wis. 2d at 391-92.

In Wisconsin. a circuit court's jurisdiction is conferred by our constitution and not by acts of the legislature. It logically follows from these principles that the failure to comply with any statutory mandate, such as the time a certain procedure must take place, in no way negates a circuit court's ability to adjudicate the kind of controversy before it; rather, it only prevents it from adjudicating the specific case before it. For lack of a better word, we have chosen to label this loss of the court's lesser power, where it does not involve errors affecting personal jurisdiction, as a loss of competence.

In re B.J.N., 162 Wis. 2d 635, 655-56, 469 N.W.2d 845 (1991) (citation omitted). "As we have noted, for each specific case courts require competency for adjudication and for the valid exercise of other powers." *Michael J.L.*, 174 Wis. 2d at 139.

В. The term "jurisdiction" has been misused with respect to the probable cause determination to iuveniles pertaining adult under court iurisdiction and should be replaced with the concept of "competency."

Toliver relies on *Kleser* to support his argument that the circuit court lost subject matter jurisdiction over his case when it failed to expressly state it found probable cause of the qualifying offense. Toliver's Br. at 22-23. Toliver's argument relies language in the court's decision concerning the necessary probable cause showing embodied in Wis. Stat. § 970.032(1). Toliver's Br. at 22-23. The State admits that this court employed the term "jurisdiction" in *Kleser*, but that this term did not refer to the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction. *Kleser*, 328 Wis. 2d 42, ¶¶57, 62.

A circuit court always has subject matter jurisdiction. *L.M.C.*, 146 Wis. 2d at 390. A circuit court may lose its competency to consider a case, though, when it fails to follow the contours of a statute, which is what Toliver alleges happened here. *B.J.N.*, 162 Wis. 2d at 655-56.

The State believes an examination of several cases will shed light on the differences between subject matter jurisdiction and competency, and illustrate how the terms have been confused.

In State v. Becker, 74 Wis. 2d 675, 247 N.W.2d 495 (1976),

this court held that before an adult defendant could be tried for an offense committed before he was eighteen years of age where no juvenile proceedings were instituted, the State was required to show at a due process hearing that the prosecution was not delayed manipulatively so as to avoid the juvenile justice system.

State v. Annala, 168 Wis. 2d 453, 459, 484 N.W.2d 138 (1992). In Schroeder, the court of appeals addressed the defendant's claim that the circuit court's failure to hold a Becker hearing divested the court of subject matter jurisdiction. 224 Wis. 2d at 711-22.

The *Schroeder* court began its analysis of whether the circuit court had lost subject matter jurisdiction by turning to *Mack*. *Id*. at 712. Reviewing *Mack*, the court concluded that circuit courts are never without subject matter jurisdiction with one exception: when a complaint sets forth a charge unknown to law. *Id*. at 714.

The court then turned to the defendant's argument that because the *Becker* court and courts applying *Becker* employed terms like "jurisdiction of the juvenile court" and "jurisdiction of the criminal court," the failure to hold the hearing divested the court of subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.* at 715. The court acknowledged that the court of appeals and this court "used the terms 'subject matter jurisdiction' and 'jurisdiction' to describe the authority of the 'juvenile court' under Chapter 48, Stats., and the authority of the 'adult court' or 'criminal court." *Id.* 

at 717. The court noted, though, that this court "has recognized that the terms 'jurisdiction' and 'competence' have been inconsistently used by the courts, with the terms 'subject matter jurisdiction' and 'jurisdiction' used when the error should properly have been classified as affecting a court's competency to exercise its jurisdiction." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The court noted that subject matter jurisdiction is conferred by the constitution and competency, a lesser power than subject matter jurisdiction, is conferred by the legislature. *Id.* at 718. Failure to comply with a statute concerns the court's competency, not its subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.* 

Further, the court noted that the "exclusive jurisdiction" language set forth in Wis. Stat. § 48.12(1), which concerned delinquency and was repealed by 1995 Wisconsin Act 77, referred only to statutory jurisdiction, which is a matter of a court's competency, not its subject jurisdiction. Id. at 719. The court acknowledged that some of the confusion over the meaning of "jurisdiction" in these contexts comes from the courts' use of terms like "iuvenile court" and "adult" or "criminal court." Id. The court stated that any understanding that this means the courts are different courts with different powers is wrong. Id. Due to the 1977 court reorganization and corresponding statutory and constitutional changes, there are no longer "juvenile courts" and "adult courts." Id. at 720-21. There are now only circuit courts that adjudicate matters pertaining to the criminal code or the juvenile code. Id. at 721. "In other words, 'juvenile,' 'adult' and 'criminal' in this context refer to the statutes

governing the filing and adjudication of the case, not to the type of court." *Id*.

Similarly, in *Michael J.L.*, the court of appeals addressed the defendant's claim that the circuit court's failure to comply with the statutory time requirements set forth in Wis. Stat. § 48.25(2)(a), relating to a delinquency petition, deprived the court of jurisdiction to hear the motion. 174 Wis. 2d at 134. The court declared that the question was not one of jurisdiction, but of competence. *Id.* at 136-37. The *Michael J.L.* court stated that the "exclusive jurisdiction" language contained in the juvenile code referred to statutory jurisdiction – or competence – not to subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.* at 137.

Just recently, the court of appeals noted that a juvenile court's competency to waive the juvenile to adult court is often referred to as subject matter jurisdiction. *State v. Phillips*, 2014 WI App 3, ¶6 n.3, \_\_\_ Wis. 2d \_\_\_, \_\_ N.W.2d \_\_\_ (R-Ap. 104).<sup>8</sup> The court noted, however, that "competency is the more accurate characterization as it refers to whether a court can adjudicate the specific case before it rather than whether it can adjudicate the kind of case before it." *Id.* (R-Ap. 104).

The State submits that under B.J.N., Michael J.L., Schroeder and all of the other cases that discuss subject matter jurisdiction and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In other words, Toliver's statement that the circuit court in this case was "sitting as a criminal court" is incorrect. Toliver's Br. at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> On January 29, 2014, the court of appeals ordered the *Phillips* opinion to be published in the official reports (R-Ap. 101-06).

competency, the question of whether a circuit court fails to follow the contours of a statute – which is what Toliver argues here – is a question that goes to the court's competency, not its jurisdiction.

# V. TOLIVER FORFEITED OR WAIVED ANY ARGUMENT WITH RESPECT TO THE COURT'S COMPETENCY.

Because Toliver's claim pertains to the circuit court's competency, not its jurisdiction, his claim is waived by his failure to raise it contemporaneously, his guilty pleas, and his failure to raise it before his reply brief in the court of appeals.

A. Toliver forfeited review of any competency claim by failing to make a contemporaneous objection to the court's probable cause finding at the preliminary hearing.

Toliver complains that the circuit court failed to expressly find probable cause of the qualifying offense at the preliminary hearing, but Toliver ignores that he stood silent on the matter at the time (52; 57). Had Toliver objected, it seems likely the court would have said the magic words Toliver now claims are lacking. Instead, though, Toliver made no objection. Because Toliver failed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In fact, even Toliver's later circuit court motion to reopen the preliminary hearing made no mention of competency. Pet-Ap.146-48. Further, despite Toliver's decision to raise a claim that the circuit court lacked competency in his reply

to object, he may not complain of any error now. *See State v. Davis*, 199 Wis. 2d 513, 517-19, 545 N.W.2d 244 (Ct. App. 1996) (adopting the contemporaneous objection rule for constitutional, as well as evidentiary, errors).

"[T]he common-law waiver rule applies to the circuit court's competency, such that a challenge to the court's competency will be deemed waived if not raised in the circuit court[.]" *Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d at 96; *State v. Starks*, 2013 WI 69, ¶38, 349 Wis. 2d 274, 833 N.W.2d 146. A failure to challenge competency in the circuit court forfeits review of the decision. *Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d at 96-97; *Starks*, 349 Wis. 2d 274, ¶38. It does not appear Toliver ever challenged the circuit court's competency while in the circuit court, and he certainly failed to challenge it at the preliminary hearing.

B. Toliver waived review of any competency claim by pleading guilty.

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